SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 3 2018

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

EVAN WEISS, BELINDA HENRY, MICHAEL HAYES, MICHEALE HAYES, ROSS SHAW, DEBBIE SHAW, and 1819 MSC, LLC, Plaintiffs and Appellants,

Deputy

VS.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, acting by and through the Department of Transportation; and ORANGE COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,

Defendants, Respondents, and Petitioners.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G052735

1. STATEMENT OF ISSUE IN PETITION FOR REVIEW

Was the decision below correct in disagreeing with established inverse condemnation practice, following *Dina v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation* (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1029, using Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040 to determine in advance of a bench trial whether a taking or damaging of private property has occurred?

2. AN OVERVIEW

Orange County Transportation Authority ("OCTA") and the People of the State of California, acting by and through the Department of Transportation ("Caltrans") (sometimes collectively, the "Agencies") built two sound walls along the west-side shoulder of the Interstate 5 freeway in response to noise complaints by residents on the west side of the freeway. Property owners on the east side of the freeway sued complaining that the sound walls reflect noise, dust and vibrations. The Agencies filed a motion to dismiss the property owners' inverse condemnation cause of action using Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040. The trial court granted the Agencies' motion, and the Court of Appeal reversed, holding that section 1260.040 does not apply in inverse condemnation cases to decide issues of liability.

A. Overview of Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040

Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040¹ was adopted in 2001 as part of a larger statutory scheme designed to encourage eminent domain cases to settle pretrial. Subdivision (a) of the statute provides, in part:

¹ All further statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure, except where noted.

"If there is a dispute between plaintiff and defendant over an evidentiary or other legal issue affecting the determination of compensation, either party may move the court for a ruling on the issue."

Section 1260.040 is contained within Title 7 of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, which is entitled and referred to as the Eminent Domain Law. The law of inverse condemnation is not governed by the Eminent Domain Law but has been left for determination by judicial development. (Cal. Law Revision Com. com., 19 West's Ann. Code Civ. Proc. (2007 ed.) foll. §1230.020, p. 229.) The Legislature developed an "elaborate and lengthy process" condemning agencies must follow to acquire property through eminent domain (*Property Reserve, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 151, 188), but it chose not to develop a parallel statutory scheme for inverse condemnation.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Chhour v. Community Redevelopment Agency* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 273, established the test for when statutes from the Eminent Domain Law may be imported into or applied in an inverse condemnation setting. In short, the *Chhour* court held that absent an obstacle, courts are empowered to decide whether importation serves the same policy objectives in inverse as it does in direct condemnation. (*Chhour, supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th at pp. 281-82.)

The Second District Court of Appeal, in *Dina*, *supra*, also assumed that the provisions of the Eminent Domain Law could be adopted into inverse condemnation law absent legislative intent or good reason to the contrary. (*Dina*, *supra*, 151 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1041, fn. 3.) Applying that standard, the *Dina* court approved the use of section 1260.040 in inverse condemnation actions to resolve issues of liability and any attendant causes of action. (*Id.* at p. 1029.) This Court cited the *Dina* decision favorably in

City of Perris v. Stamper (2016) 1 Cal.5th 576, 596.

In the ten years since *Dina*, *supra*, the Legislature has amended other sections of the Eminent Domain Law three times (Code Civ. Proc., §§1240.055, 1245.245, 1255.410) and has made no effort to unwind the holding in *Dina*.

B. Summary of Argument

Continued use of section 1260.040 to decide issues of liability in inverse condemnation is warranted. The Court of Appeal's reversal of the trial court judgment in favor of the Agencies was wrong and should be reversed for four main reasons.

- 1. The lower court did not apply the test developed in *Chhour*, *supra*, which provides a reasonable framework for when an eminent domain statute may be applied in inverse condemnation. Instead, the court applied an impossibly high bar for importation. It recognized that the Legislature had delegated the development of inverse condemnation to the judiciary. That notwithstanding, the court asserted that it could only import an eminent domain statute into inverse condemnation upon express manifestations of intent in the statutory language or legislative history expressions that are virtually guaranteed not to be there because of the Legislature's delegation.
- 2. The Court of Appeal did not recognize that the motion procedure created by section 1260.040 was something more than a motion *in limine*. The phrase "or other legal issue" and subdivision (c) demonstrate the Legislature's intent to create a new motion procedure that is different from a motion *in limine*, and for that reason, the case law disfavoring dispositive motions *in limine* does not apply here.

The lower court reached a conclusion about what the procedure in section 1260.040 is not without analyzing the parameters of what the procedure is. Undertaking a statutory interpretation analysis of what

section 1260.040 is in the eminent domain context, where it is undisputed that it applies, is a necessary first step in determining whether this provision can or should apply in inverse condemnation.

3. The lower court misunderstood how section 1260.040 liability motions have served to promote settlement in inverse condemnation cases. The misunderstanding was two-fold. The court overlooked the significance of section 1036. Section 1036 provides that a court shall award the successful inverse plaintiff his or her reasonable litigation expenses, including attorney's fees. Public entities know that once inverse liability is found, settlement should be aggressively pursued. Under *Dina*, *supra*, adept property owner lawyers routinely filed section 1260.040 motions in their inverse cases to obtain an early ruling on liability and force the government to dramatically increase its settlement offer or face the certainty of an ever increasing fee award.

The lower court also misread the meaning of a ruling in favor of the inverse plaintiff on a section 1260.040 liability motion. The court mistakenly asserted that the grant of a section 1260.040 brought by the property owner would only establish that the owner was able to make a *prima facie* showing and that trial on the issue would still be required. (Opn. p. 36.)² However, the purpose of section 1260.040 is to obtain a ruling from the trial judge on an issue that is for the trial judge to decide. Were it not for section 1260.040, the same issue would be decided at a bifurcated bench trial. The ruling on a section 1260.040 motion has the same effect. It is legally binding on the parties at the compensation trial. The Court of Appeal seemed to believe there was an unfairness in how

² "Opn." will refer to the decision of the Court of Appeal, a copy of which was attached as Exhibit A to the Petition for Review. "CT" will refer to the Clerk's transcript on appeal, with references to the applicable volume and page number.

section 1260.040 could be used in inverse cases, but the procedure is equally available to both sides and, if anything, is more useful to the property owner lawyer because of the government's exposure to a fee award under section 1036.

4. No good reason exists to treat the nonjury legal issues that arise in eminent domain differently than the same legal issues that arise in inverse condemnation. Section 1260.040 should be available in inverse cases to determine the nonjury legal issues that arise in both contexts. The issues that fall within the bounds of "other legal issue," as that phrase is used in section 1260.040, include issues of liability. These issues are generally not amenable to resolution through motion for summary judgment because they present mixed questions of fact and law. Absent the availability of section 1260.040, parties to an inverse action will only be able to decide these issues at a bench trial, which may or may not be bifurcated from the jury trial. Fewer inverse cases will settle pretrial because there will be no vehicle that allows for an early determination of the legal issues that are standing in the way of an apples-to-apples comparison of case value.

3. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Summary of Facts

Interstate 5 (I-5) is a freeway that runs north and south through a residential area in the City of San Clemente ("City"). (1 CT 513.) This residential neighborhood is near the freeway on-ramp and off-ramp at El Camino Real, a major thoroughfare in the City. (1 CT 40: 15-22.) The freeway bridges over El Camino Real. (*Ibid.*) In this part of the City, the terrain gently slopes up to the east of I-5, and the terrain gently slopes down to the Pacific Ocean to the west of I-5.

///

1) Construction of sound walls

Two sound walls were built along the west-side of I-5 opposite Plaintiffs' properties. (1 CT 293:9-12; 1 CT 291:7-10.) The first sound wall is located on the shoulder of the southbound on-ramp from El Camino Real. (1 CT 293:9-11.) The second sound wall is located on the shoulder of the southbound I-5 and traverses the bridge of El Camino Real. (1 CT 293:11-12.) The first sound wall is a 14- to 16-foot tall masonry wall. (1 CT 293:9-21; 2 CT 514-515.) The second sound wall is 14-feet tall and is constructed of masonry block before and after it crosses the freeway's bridge over El Camino Real. (1 CT 293:11-21; 2 CT 514-515.) The portion of wall on the bridge is constructed of Paraglass, which is a clear Plexiglass-type material. (1 CT 293:12-21.)

Plaintiffs³ own four properties on the east side of I-5 near its intersection with El Camino Real. (1 CT 39:4-22.) Three of the properties are single-family homes and the fourth is a small hotel. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiffs allege that the sound walls reflect "noise, vibration, glare and dust" onto their properties. (1 CT 40.) The sound walls interfere with and, in some cases, block what was before Plaintiffs' view of the ocean. (1 CT 40:21-22.)

The sound walls were constructed on Caltrans property as part of an OCTA retrofit sound wall program, which is a program designed to address noise complaints associated with existing freeways or highways. (1 CT 295:8-12, 296:17-19; 2 CT 371, ¶1.) Streets and Highways Code section 215.5 authorizes Caltrans to "develop and implement a system of priorities for ranking the need for installation of noise attenuation barriers along freeways in the California freeway and expressway system." Deciding

³ Plaintiffs are Evan Weiss, Belinda Henry, Michael Hayes, Michael Hayes, Ross Shaw, Debbie Shaw, and 1819 MSC, LLC (collectively, "Plaintiffs").

whether a location is right for the construction of a retrofit sound wall is a multi-step process whereby Caltrans conducts progressively more detailed studies of the location on issues such as feasibility and cost effectiveness. (1 CT 295:13-296:16.) More communities request sound walls than financial resources exist. (1 CT 295:8-10, 296:15-16.) And so, locations deemed worthy of a sound wall are placed on a prioritized waiting list for funding. (1 CT 296:13-16.)

Residents on the west side of I-5 opposite Plaintiffs' properties started complaining of freeway noise in 1999. (3 CT 818:22-819:17.) West-side residents continued to complain, and Caltrans noise measurements exceeded the threshold for further study in 2001. (*Ibid.*; 3 CT 827:6-18.) Caltrans referred the location to OCTA, which placed it on a waiting list for further noise and engineering analysis. (1 CT 296:17-19.)

In August 2004, Caltrans completed and approved the Noise Barrier Scope Summary Report ("NBSSR") for the west side of the I-5. (1 CT 296:22-28.) The NBSSR analyzes and compares wall locations, wall heights, cost estimates and which combination will result in the maximum benefit to the largest number of households. (1 CT 296:7-12.) The report approved the construction of the two sound walls at this location and at these heights. (1 CT 296:22.) The report assumed that the sound walls would be built of masonry block, which is the most common material chosen for sound walls on California highways. (1 CT 293:18-19; 2 CT 515.) The NBSSR did not consider any possible reflective noise impacts on the area east of I-5 where Plaintiffs' properties are located. (3 CT 840:15-841:13, 842:11-16.) Following the approval of the NBSSR, the Agencies placed the sound wall project ("Project") on the waiting list for funding. (1 CT 296:13-16.)

In 2008, funding for the Project became available (1 CT 297:1-4), and the Agencies entered into a cooperative agreement to undertake the

design phase (2 CT 270-384). OCTA hired a contractor to design the plans for the Project consistent with the location and height of the sound walls approved in the NBSSR. (1 CT 292-294.) The design plans deviated from the NBSSR in one respect. (1 CT 293:20-294:4; 2 CT 515.) The design team determined that the bridge could not safely withstand the weight of masonry block material, and that traffic vibrations on the steel bridge would compromise the setting mortar, which could only be prevented via multiple lane closures for several months. (1 CT 293:20-294:4.) The Agencies and the City approved the use of Paraglass, a lighter material than masonry block, on the sound wall that traversed the bridge. (*Ibid.*) Construction of the sound wall Project was completed in September 2012 as designed. (1 CT 291:7-10.)

2) <u>East-side residents complain of increased traffic</u> <u>noise</u>

In 2011, before the sound walls were completed, Plaintiffs and other east-side residents complained at City Council meetings that the sound walls blocked their ocean views and increased noise levels in their community. (1 CT 216-217, 247-248.) In response to these complaints, the City hired a noise consultant, Weiland Acoustics, to measure whether the sound walls were causing an increase in traffic noise levels within the east-side neighborhood. (1 CT 248.)

Weiland Acoustics took noise level readings at five locations, three of which were Plaintiffs' properties and two of which were not. (1 CT 39; 4 CT 963-866.) Those noise level readings were taken before the sound walls were constructed and again afterward. (4 CT 963.) Weiland Acoustics reached the following conclusion:

"[I]t appears that the presence of the soundwall has increased the freeway noise level in the residential community by 0.9 to 2.1 dBA

[abbreviation for decibels]. However, as discussed above, there were a number of factors that could not be accounted for in the analysis, such as variations in traffic flow, speed and vehicle mix, as well as the inability to discriminate between freeway traffic noise and noise from other sources. Therefore, it cannot be definitively concluded that the soundwall on the I-5 freeway overcrossing of El Camino Real has increased freeway traffic noise levels in the residential community."

(4 CT 966.)

Not only were the Weiland Acoustics findings indeterminate, the reported increase was too small to be detected by the human ear. (*Ibid.*) A Caltrans technical manual explained: "It is widely accepted that the average healthy ear, however, can barely perceive noise level changes of 3 dBA." (4 CT 971; see also, 4 CT 966.)

B. Procedural History

In October 2012, Plaintiffs filed a complaint alleging three causes of action: inverse condemnation, trespass and nuisance. (1 CT 38-44.) The Agencies filed demurrers and motions to strike portions of the complaint alleging loss of an ocean view. (1 CT 45-62 [Caltrans]; 1 CT 71-91 [OCTA].) The trial court sustained without leave to amend the demurrers to the trespass cause of action and granted the motion to strike the language pertaining to a claimed loss of view. (1 CT 139-160.) The trial court overruled the demurrers on all other grounds. (*Ibid.*)

In November 2014, a separate lawsuit was filed against the Agencies by twenty members of the east-side community (who were not Plaintiffs) alleging the same theories of liability and the same types of impacts from the sound walls at El Camino Real. (1 CT 255-262.) The second lawsuit, Hill v. People of the State of California, by and through its Department of Transportation, Orange County Superior Court Case Number 30-2014-00757025-CU-EI-CJC, was virtually a carbon copy of Plaintiffs' lawsuit except for the names of the parties suing the Agencies. (Compare 1 CT 255-262 [Hill complaint] with 1 CT 38-44 [Plaintiffs' complaint].) The Hill complaint was later voluntarily dismissed with prejudice. (4 CT 922.)

In January 2015, the Agencies filed two motions under section 1260.040. In one, the Agencies moved to dismiss the nuisance cause of action as barred by the immunity found in Civil Code section 3482, or alternatively, design immunity as provided in Government Code section 830.6.4 (1 CT 265-285, 286-300; 2 CT 301-533.) The trial court granted the motion to dismiss the nuisance action (4 CT 1033-1035, 1062-1066), but the Court of Appeal reversed (Opn. p. 39). The Agencies do not appeal the Court of Appeal's decision regarding the nuisance motion.

The second motion, filed under section 1260.040, attacked the inverse condemnation cause of action. (1 CT 186-264, 286-300; 2 CT 301-533.) The second motion argued that Plaintiffs could not prove that the sound wall created a burden on them that was direct, peculiar and substantial. (1 CT 188:12-14, 200-206.) The trial court granted the motion. (4 CT 1033-1035, 1071-1075.) The Court of Appeal held that section 1260.040 could not be used in an inverse case to decide issues of liability and reversed the trial court's decision and remanded the case for further proceedings. (Opn. pp. 18-19.) The Court of Appeal did not reach the merits of Plaintiffs' inverse claim or the Agencies' defense. (*Ibid.*)

⁴ The Agencies simultaneously filed a motion for leave to amend the answer to add design immunity under Government Code section 830.6 as an affirmative defense (2 CT 534-551), which the trial court granted (4 CT 1033, 1067-1070).

4. THE COURT SHOULD REAFFIRM THE RULE IN DINA

The rule announced in the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Dina*, *supra*, regarding the use of section 1260.040 motions to decide issues of liability in inverse condemnation should prevail.

A. <u>Cross-pollination between inverse and direct</u> condemnation is the general rule

Cross-pollination between inverse and direct condemnation actions is the general rule. (Chhour, supra, 46 Cal.App.4th 273, 280; see also Jefferson Street Ventures LLC v. City of Indio (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 1175, 1198.) In both types of proceedings, the owner is entitled to just compensation under Article I, section 19 of the California Constitution. (Mt. San Jacinto Community College Dist. v. Superior Court (2004) 117 Cal. App. 4th 98, 104-105 ["The principals which affect the parties' rights in an inverse condemnation suit are the same as those in an eminent domain action"].) Because inverse condemnation is the flip-side of the coin of eminent domain, statutes and cases dealing with direct condemnation may usually be cited and relied on in inverse actions and vice versa. (e.g., Stamper, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 596; Jefferson Street Ventures, supra, 236 Cal.App.4th at p. 1198.) There are differences between eminent domain and inverse condemnation actions, but "such distinctions should not yield different results in terms of compensation." (Mt. San Jacinto Community College Dist., supra, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 105.)

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Chhour, supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th 273, recognized this history when it developed a framework to determine when an eminent domain statute can be adopted or imported into the body of inverse condemnation law. In *Chhour*, the court was presented with a case involving a business owner who sued a redevelopment agency in inverse condemnation for loss of business goodwill under section 1263.510. The agency argued that the business was not entitled to goodwill

damages because section 1263.510 applies only in eminent domain. And because goodwill is not compensable as a matter of constitutional law, the agency argued that the business owner was barred from recovering lost goodwill under any theory. (*Id.* at p. 278.)

The question before the court in *Chhour* was under what circumstances an eminent domain statute could and should be imported into the body of inverse condemnation law. The court examined the legislative commission minutes to the Eminent Domain Law, which stated that the law "is drafted with the intent to provide rules for Eminent Domain Law and that the title is neutral with respect to the applicability of any of its provisions to inverse condemnation actions." (*Chhour, supra,* 46 Cal.App.4th at p. 279.)

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