OCT 1 1 2018

Case No. S248141

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

240141

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

EVAN WEISS, BELINDA HENRY, MICHAEL HAYES, MICHEALE HAYES, ROSS SHAW, DEBBIE SHAW, and 1819 MSC, LLC,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, acting by and through its Department of Transportation; and ORANGE COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,

Defendants, Respondents, and Petitioners.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G052735

Appeal from Judgment of the Superior Court
State of California, County of Orange
Honorable Kirk H. Nakamura, Judge Presiding

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal Correctly Declined to Apply Section
 1260.040 to Liability Issues in Inverse Condemnation
 Actions

The plain language, legislative history, and purpose of section 1260.040 all demonstrate that the Legislature did not intend it to apply to liability issues in inverse condemnation actions. Section 1260.040 is a narrow statutory mechanism designed solely for pretrial resolution of *compensation-related* legal issues in eminent domain actions. As the Court of Appeal ruled, it should not be judicially imported wholesale into inverse condemnation jurisprudence and used to determine issues involving *liability* for a taking of property.

A. The Plain Language of the Statute Applies Only to
Issues Affecting the Determination of Compensation
in Eminent Domain Proceedings

Statutory interpretation requires application of the statute's plain language. (Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High

School Dist. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 919.) If the language of the statute is not ambiguous, the plain meaning controls and resort to extrinsic sources to determine the Legislature's intent is unnecessary. (*Ibid.*) Section 1260.040 is not ambiguous. It is part of the Eminent Domain Law, which governs eminent domain proceedings. (§ 1230.010, *et seq.*) Section 1260.040 provides in relevant part:

- (a) If there is a dispute between plaintiff and defendant over an evidentiary or other legal issue affecting the determination of compensation, either party may move the court for a ruling on the issue. The motion shall be made not later than 60 days before commencement of trial on the issue of compensation. The motion shall be heard by the judge assigned for trial of the case.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other statute or rule of court governing the date of final offers and demands of the parties and the date of trial of an eminent domain proceeding, the court may postpone those dates for a period sufficient to enable the parties to engage in further proceedings before trial in response to its ruling on the motion. (§ 1260.040.)

The plain language of this section, interpreted in the context of the Eminent Domain Law into which it was written, makes clear that it was only intended to apply in eminent domain proceedings. "The law of inverse condemnation is not governed by the Eminent Domain Law, but has been 'left for determination by judicial development."

(Mt. San Jacinto Community College Dist. v. Superior Court (2004)

117 Cal.App.4th 98, 104, quoting *Chhour v. Community*Redevelopment Agency (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 273, 279.)

The language of section 1260.040 cannot reasonably be construed to permit a pretrial motion on *liability* issues in an inverse condemnation action. As noted, the statute by its specific language only applies to issues "affecting the determination of compensation" in an eminent domain proceeding. (§ 1260.040, subd. (a).) In an ordinary eminent domain proceeding, there is no liability phase, because "[w]hen a public entity exercises its power of eminent domain to condemn private property, there is ordinarily no question that it has 'taken or damaged' that property." (*San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. Superior Court* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 893, 939.) "But the same is not true of inverse condemnation" (*Ibid.*)

Long before section 1260.040 was enacted in 2001, it was settled that an action for inverse condemnation is a bifurcated, two-part proceeding. First, *the court* determines whether the governmental entity is liable for taking or damaging property. Second, if there is liability, *a jury* then determines the amount of compensation to be awarded. (*Healing v. California Coastal Com.* (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 1158, 1170, citing cases.) Only the compensation phase of an inverse

condemnation proceeding is parallel to an eminent domain proceeding.

To apply section 1260.040 to the *liability* phase of an inverse condemnation action would be contrary to its plain language. The statutory phrase "affecting the determination of compensation" refers to issues affecting how the *amount* of the compensation is determined. (§ 1260.040, subd. (a).) The Legislature adopted this statute for eminent domain proceedings, where "the focus is usually limited to the amount of compensation owed the property owner under the 'just compensation' clause" of the California Constitution. (*San Diego Gas & Electric Co.*, *supra*, 13 Cal. 4th at pp. 939-940.) The statutory language does not suggest that it may be applied to issues affecting the determination of *liability* for the taking or damaging of private property.

Defendants argue that the statutory phrase "other legal issue" as used in section 1260.040 is broad enough to "include issues of liability." (OBM, at p. 11.) But this interpretation reads the qualifying language "affecting the determination of compensation" right out of the statute. The statute does not apply to *any* legal issue, or even any legal issue affecting *the right* to compensation; it applies

only to an "evidentiary or other legal issue affecting the determination of compensation" in an eminent domain proceeding. (§ 1260.040, subd. (a), emphasis added.)

As the Court of Appeal noted (Opn. at p. 15), the Legislature enacted section 1260.040 against the backdrop of a statutory scheme that already distinguished between (1) "right to take" issues, and (2) "determination of the issue of compensation." (§ 1260.110, subd. (a) [statutory procedure allowing "right to take" issues to be "heard and determined prior to the determination of the issue of compensation"].) By limiting section 1260.040 to issues affecting "the determination of compensation," the Legislature clearly manifested its intention *not* to apply the statute to liability issues such as the right to take. Courts must presume that the Legislature intended similar phrases to be accorded the same meaning within a statutory scheme. (*People v. Wells* (1996) 12 Cal.4th 979, 986.)

The Court of Appeal also correctly rejected the contrary holding of *Dina*. As the Court of Appeal explained, "*Dina* did not analyze whether the Legislature intended section 1260.040 to apply to inverse condemnation cases, possibly because the appellants there

'd[id] not challenge the applicability of section 1260.040 on the ground that the action involved inverse condemnation rather than eminent domain.'" (Opn. at p. 13, quoting *Dina*, supra, 151 Cal.App.4th at p. 1041, fn. 3.)

The Dina court seems to have accepted the notion that section 1260.040 applies to case-dispositive liability issues because their resolution could "affect the determination of compensation" by mooting such cases entirely. (See, e.g., Dina, supra, 151 Cal.App.4th at p. 1041 ["What could affect the determination of compensation more than whether or not the plaintiffs have a valid cause of action?"].) But a "determination of compensation" means a decision on the *amount* of compensation, not a decision on the plaintiff's threshold right to receive compensation. Indeed, if the Legislature had intended the statute to address both liability and compensation issues, there would have been no point in adding the limiting phrase "affecting the determination of compensation." The Legislature could have just said that the statute applies to the determination of any "evidentiary or other legal issue" and left it at that. But it did not; it added the limiting phrase "affecting the determination of compensation." Statutes should be interpreted to give each word

operative effect, and to avoid rendering language superfluous.

(Shoemaker v. Myers (1990) 52 Cal.3d 1, 22.)

Subdivision (b) of the statute further indicates that it was not intended to authorize case-dispositive motions. Subdivision (b) allows courts to postpone the trial of an eminent domain proceeding after the ruling on a section 1260.040 motion "to enable the parties to engage in further proceedings before trial in response to its ruling on the motion." (§ 1260.040, subd. (b), emphasis added.) The "further proceedings" referred to in subdivision (b) logically refers to the alternative dispute resolution and trial postponement provisions authorized as part of the same 2001 bill. (§ 1250.420 [authorizing arbitration or mediation in eminent domain proceedings]; § 1250.430 [authorizing postponement of trial of an eminent domain proceeding when parties are engaged in alternate dispute resolution proceedings].) Thus, the Legislature intended that pretrial resolution of discrete issues "affecting the determination of compensation" would result in subsequent settlements (via arbitration, mediation, or otherwise) and avoid the need for eminent domain trials, not wholesale disposal of the case by way of law and motion.

B. The Legislative History Confirms that the Legislature
Only Intended to Apply the Statute to Issues Affecting
the Determination of Compensation in Eminent
Domain Proceedings

The legislative history does not suggest the Legislature intended to apply section 1260.040 to liability issues or inverse condemnation actions. The Law Revision Commission Comment "introducing the original Eminent Domain Law explicitly states that 'The provisions of the Eminent Domain Law are intended to supply rules only for eminent domain proceedings. The law of inverse condemnation is left for determination by judicial development.' (Cal. Law Revision Com. com., 19 West's Ann. Code Civ. Proc. (1982 ed.) § 1230.020, p. 395.)" (*Chhour, supra,* 46 Cal.App.4th at p. 279).

The Legislature added section 1260.040 to the Eminent Domain Law in 2001 as part of a package "of revisions of the law intended to facilitate resolution *of eminent domain cases* without the need for trial." (Cal. Law Revision Com., Recommendation: Early Disclosure of Valuation Data and Resolution of Issues in Eminent Domain (Oct.

2000) 30 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (2000) ("Recommendation"), Legislative History at pp. 374-373.) (emphasis added.)²

These revisions included new provisions intended to facilitate early disclosure of valuation data and resolution of evidentiary valuation issues in eminent domain cases. (Assem. Bill No. 237 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as introduced February 13, 2001; Statutes of 2001, Ch. 428 [LH, pp. 1-10 and 58-67].) The Legislature set an earlier exchange date for valuation data and other expert lists (90 days before trial) (§ 1258.220, subd. (a) [LH, pp. 6, 64]); it created an early motion in limine procedure for determining evidentiary and other legal issues affecting determination of compensation contemplated to occur after the exchange of valuation data and expert lists to be made at least 60 days before trial; (§ 1260.040 [LH, pp. 8, 65-66]); and it modified the offer and demand statute (§ 1250.410 [LH pp. 3, 60-61]) to be made 20 days prior to trial to improve the prospects of reasonable offers and demands, taking into account that the parties

² Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Request for Judicial Notice of the legislative history of Assembly Bill 237 (Stats 2001, ch. 428, sec. 9), which enacted section 1260.040 and related provisions ("LH"), on November 3, 2017 in the Court of Appeal. It was granted by the Court in its Opinion at page 14, fn. 5. Out of an abundance of caution, plaintiffs have concurrently filed a Motion Requesting Judicial Notice of the same legislative history with this Court.

and their counsel would be better informed based on the other statutory revisions so that offers and demands would lead to more settlements of eminent domain cases prior to trial. (*See* Assem. Bill No. 237 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as introduced February 13, 2001; Statutes of 2001, Ch. 428 [LH, pp. 1-10 and 58-67]; and the Recommendation, [LH, p. 377].)

The legislative history repeatedly refers to the Legislature's intent to facilitate settlement of eminent domain proceedings brought by governmental entities against private property owners, not inverse condemnation actions brought by private property owners against governmental entities. For example, the Law Revision Commission advised that the bill "proposes a number of statutory improvements intended to facilitate resolution of eminent domain cases without the need for trial" including "an exchange of valuation data 90 days before trial, coupled with a process enabling early resolution of legal disputes" and authorizing voluntary alternative dispute resolution to "substantially improve eminent domain procedure . . . in a way that fairly balances the interests of all parties." (Law Revision Commission Letter to Hon. Darrell Steinberg, April 26, 2001 [LH, p. 74], emphasis added.)

Similarly, the Assembly Committee on Judiciary ("Assembly Committee") summarized the bill as seeking "to facilitate resolution of eminent domain cases through the authorization of ADR and revise procedures in eminent domain proceedings. . . ."] (Report of the Assembly Committee following its May 2, 2001 hearing ["Assembly Report"], [LH, pp. 70, 71], emphasis added.)

The legislative history also confirms that the Legislature only intended section 1260.040 to apply to issues affecting the amount of compensation awarded for a taking or damaging of private property. The Law Revision Commission noted that although section 1260.110 of the Eminent Domain Law already "provide[d] structurally for early resolution of right to take issues," there was "nothing in the statute providing for early resolution of legal issues affecting valuation." (Recommendation [LH, p. 383].) Thus, the Commission "recommend[ed] an express statutory provision for early resolution of legal issues affecting valuation in an eminent domain case." (Ibid., emphasis added.) The Commission emphasized: "The procedure should be limited to resolution of legal issues that may affect compensation, such as what constitutes the larger parcel, or the probability of a zoning change." (*Id.* at p. 384, emphasis added.)

The Commission also made clear that the statute was designed to facilitate settlements *after* the trial court's ruling on these legal issues, not to authorize a dismissal of the action. It stated: "Resolution of legal issues in a timely manner will help pave the way for a resolution of the proceeding without the need for a trial." (*Ibid.*) It was intended to "help pave the way for a resolution" not "resolve" the proceedings without a trial. The Commission explained: "In order for mediation to be effective in eminent domain proceedings, it is important that pretrial discovery and resolution of legal issues first be completed... The proposed law would allow the court to waive fast track and other trial setting rules if the parties are actively engaged in alternative dispute resolution and agree that additional time would be beneficial." (*Id.* at p. 386.)

The Senate Judiciary Committee reviewed the Recommendation and noted "that in almost all condemnation cases, the primary issue is the amount of compensation. Existing law seeks to encourage settlement of compensation disputes before trial in various ways, such as requiring the parties to exchange valuation data early in the process, and to make their final offers and demands for compensation before trial." (Senate Judiciary Committee report, [LH,

p. 343], emphasis added.) Although "the various incentives for pretrial settlement have been 'reasonably successful,'... the report concludes that various provisions could be improved to increase the number of cases settled without trial." (Senate Judiciary Committee report [LH, p. 344].)

Following Assembly and Senate passage, the 2001 Enrolled Bill Memorandum to Governor summarized the bill as requiring additional compensation-related information in final offers and demands and allowing resolution through mediation or arbitration.

(LH, p. 739.) The Enrolled Bill Memorandum reported that statutory improvements intended to facilitate resolution without trial included authorization of voluntary alternative dispute resolution and "exchange of valuation data 90 days before trial, coupled with a process enabling early resolution of legal disputes[.]" (LH p. 739.)

Respondent California Department of Transportation

("Caltrans") prepared its own Enrolled Bill Report, which made no mention of any motion to determine liability issues in inverse condemnation. (LH, pp. 740-743.) Rather, Caltrans identified nine changes to existing law, found that determination of compensation was the primary issue in most eminent domain actions, and noted that

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